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1

I.

2

NATURE OF ACTION

3

1.

Joel Hirsch, on behalf of the United States, brings this action to recover

4 treble damages and civil penalties under the False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. §§ 3729, et seq.
5

2.

This action is based upon the defendant’s submission of false claims on

6 Government contracts by inflating its indirect costs charged to the United States as a
7 result of wrongfully removing commercial contract direct costs from its allocation base
8 and then wrongfully including those commercial direct costs in its indirect cost pool.
9 Additionally, the defendant mischarged other commercial contract costs directly to its
10 U.S. Government contracts. Defendant’s false claims have caused millions of dollars in
11 damages to the United States.
12

II.

13

JURISDICTION

14

3.

The Court has subject matter jurisdiction to entertain this action under 28

15 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1345. The Court may exercise personal jurisdiction over the
16 defendants pursuant to 31 U.S.C. § 3732(a).
17

III.

18

VENUE

19

4.

Venue is proper in the Central District of California under 31 U.S.C. § 3732

20 and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b) and (c) because the defendant transacts business in this District
21 and because the defendant committed acts within this district that violated 31 U.S.C. §
22 3729.
23

5.

Qui Tam plaintiff Joel Hirsch is a citizen of the United States. Mr. Hirsch

24 was formerly employed by defendant AeroVironment, Inc. from August 2010 through
25 August 2012. Mr. Hirsch’s job duties focused primarily on researching where
26 AeroVironment’s products were to be built, and working with the company’s production
27
28
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1 partners. Mr. Hirsch reported directly to AeroVironment’s CEO and was involved in
2 upper management meetings where he learned of the facts alleged in this action. Mr.
3 Hirsch resides in the Central District of California.
4

6.

Defendant AeroVironment, Inc. is a publicly traded California corporation

5 with its head office located in Monrovia, California, in the Central District of California.
6 AeroVironment has many U.S. Government contracts for the development and
7 production of unmanned aerial vehicles (drones), and also logistics contracts which are
8 for Indefinite Delivery Indefinite Quantity, to which it mischarged commercial project
9 costs as alleged herein.
10
11
12
13
14

7.

Rule 9(b), Fed. R. Civ. P. Allegations. Much of the documentation

necessary to prove the allegations contained herein is in the exclusive possession of the
Defendant or the United States.
8.

The allegations of fact contained in this Complaint are personally known to

15

Mr. Hirsch unless identified as being made on information and belief. Each allegation

16

made on information and belief is based on Mr. Hirsch’s knowledge and experience and a

17

reasoned factual basis for making the allegation, but for which he lacks complete details.

18

9.

At all times relevant hereto, the Defendant acted through its agents and

19 employees and the acts of its agents and employees were within the scope of such agency
20 and employment.
21

IV.

22

The False Claims Act

23
24
25

10. The FCA provides, in pertinent part, that a person who:
(a)(1)(A) knowingly presents, or causes to be presented, a false or fraudulent claim
for payment or approval;

26
27
28
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1
2
3
4
5

(a)(1)(B) knowingly makes, uses, or causes to be made or used, a false record or
statement material to a false or fraudulent claim;
(a)(1)(G) knowingly makes, uses, or causes to be made or used, a false record or
statement material to an obligation to pay or transmit money or property to the
Government, or knowingly conceals or knowingly and improperly avoids or
decreases an obligation to pay or transmit money or property to the Government,

6
7
8
9

is liable to the United States Government for a civil penalty of not less than $5,000
and not more than $10,000, as adjusted by the Federal Civil Penalties Inflation
Adjustment Act of 1990 (28 U.S.C. 2461 note; Public Law 104-410), plus 3 times
the amount of damages which the Government sustains. . . .

10 31 U.S.C. § 3729 For purposes of the False Claims Act,
11
12
13
14

the term “knowing” and “knowingly” mean that a person, with respect to
information (1) has actual knowledge of the information; (2) acts in deliberate
ignorance of the truth or falsity of the information; or (3) acts in reckless disregard
of the truth or falsity of the information; and require no proof of specific intent to
defraud.

15 31 U.S.C. § 3729(b)(1)(B).
16

11.

Federal contractors have a legal duty to familiarize themselves with a

17 program’s coverage and payment rules. Heckler v. Community Health Services of
18 Crawford County, Inc., 467 U.S. 51, 64-65 (1984). A contractor’s failure to inform itself
19 of the legal requirements for participation in the program acts in reckless disregard or
20 deliberate ignorance of those requirements, either of which is sufficient to charge it with
21 knowledge of the falsity of the claims or certifications in question, under the False
22 Claims Act. United States v. Mackby, 261 F.3d 821, 828 (9th Cir. 2001).
23

V.

24

INDIRECT COST ILLUSTRATION

25

12.

When charging the United States on a “cost-plus” contract, the contractor

26 charges both for the contract’s “direct” costs and also the contract’s “indirect” costs. By
27
4
28
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1 way of example, a contract’s direct costs are the costs for salaries, goods, materials and
2 other items of expense that are incurred solely for the benefit of that contract. Indirect
3 costs are commonly referred to as the contractor’s administration costs which are for the
4 benefit of all of the contracts or projects of the contractor. Examples of “indirect” costs
5 include corporate General and Administrative expenses and Overhead expenses that
6 benefit multiple contracts, projects or divisions.
7

13.

To come up with an equitable allocation of “indirect” costs allocable to a

8 specific contract or project, the contractor accumulates all of its ‘indirect” costs in an
9 “indirect cost pool.” Separately, it collects each contract’s/project’s “direct” costs in an
10 “allocation base.” The amount of costs in the indirect cost pool are then allocated to the
11 company’s contracts or projects based on the pro-rata total of each contract’s/project’s
12 direct costs in the allocation base.
13

14.

For instance, if the company has $100 of “indirect” costs in its “indirect cost

14 pool”, and has four contracts which have each incurred $250 in direct costs, the
15 contractor would have $100 in the indirect cost pool and $1,000 in the allocation base. In
16 this example, each contract’s direct costs comprise 25% of the allocation base. As a
17 result, each contract would be allocated a pro-rata 25% of the amounts in the indirect cost
18 pool. The billing for each contract would then be $250 of direct costs and $25 of indirect
19 costs. In this example, the “indirect cost rate” would be 10% over and above each
20 contract’s direct costs.
21

15.

However the company might wrongfully inflate its indirect costs allocation

22 to its United States contracts in a number of ways. Two of those ways would be:
23

a)

24

direct costs from the allocation base. Whereas, as noted above, each

25

contract should correctly be only 25% of the allocation base, the removal of

26

one of the commercial contract’s $250 direct costs from the base in this

27
28

Wrongfully removing some of the company’s commercial contract

5
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1

example would cause each of the remaining three contracts in the base to

2

now be 33.3% of the allocation base, and thereby be allocated 33.3% of the

3

amounts in the indirect cost pool. In this example, the remaining three

4

contracts in the allocation base would each be allocated $33.33 in indirect

5

costs. The billing for each of the three remaining contracts would be now

6

$250 of direct costs and $33.33 of indirect costs. This would result in an

7

inflated “indirect cost rate” of 13.33% over and above each contract’s direct

8

costs (instead of the correct 10% rate).

9

b)

This economic damage to the United States could be further increased

10

if the company then took the $250 in commercial contract direct costs it had

11

wrongfully removed from the allocation base, and then exacerbated the

12

effect by wrongfully putting that $250 commercial direct cost into the

13

indirect cost pool. In this instance, the indirect cost pool would be inflated

14

to $350 instead of only $100. And, the remaining three contracts in the

15

allocation base would be wrongfully allocated a full 33.3% of the inflated

16

$350 indirect cost pool. The billing for each of the three remaining contracts

17

would now be $250 of direct costs and $116.67 of indirect costs. This

18

would result in an inflated “indirect cost rate” of 46% over and above each

19

contract’s direct costs (instead of the correct 10% rate).

20

16.

This is a simplified illustration of what AeroVironment did in its indirect

21 cost fraud scheme set forth in this qui tam action. When AeroVironment set inflated
22 indirect cost rates through its cost manipulation set forth below, the inflated indirect rates
23 were billed on invoices/billings to the United States for AeroVironment’s cost-type
24 contracts. These inflated indirect rates were also misrepresented by AeroVironment as
25 being allocable to its U.S. Government contracts subject to the Truth in Negotiations Act.
26
27
28
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1 These false billings with inflated indirect cost rates were made to the United States from
2 approximately 2009 through 2014, and continuing.
3

VI.

4

DEFENDANT’S MISCONDUCT

5

17.

Plaintiff incorporates by reference herein the allegations 1-16, inclusive.

6

18.

AeroVironment, Inc. is a defense contractor with United States Government

7 contracts for the development and production of unmanned aircraft systems (“UAS”).
8 AeroVironment’s contracts with the United States include, but are not limited to cost9 type contracts for some of its UAS products, and logistics support contracts which are for
10 Indefinite Delivery Indefinite Quantity. Additionally, AeroVironment has fixed price
11 production contracts which have the fraudulently inflated indirect cost rates built into
12 their contract price, and which were subject to the Truth in Negotiations Act.
13 AeroVioronment’s cost type contracts and fixed price contracts have been affected by the
14 wrongfully inflated indirect cost rates alleged herein, resulting in in fraudulently inflated
15 charges to the United States.
16

19.

On information and belief, various of AeroVironment’s contracts

17 incorporated by reference cost accounting, reporting and charging requirements from the
18 Federal Acquisition Regulations (“FAR”) as material terms of the contracts. Specifically,
19 the contracts incorporated FAR clauses 31.201-2, 31.201-3, 31.201-4, 31.205 and 42.704,
20 and also the Truth In Negotiations Act, 10 U.S.C. 2306 and 41 U.S.C. chapter 35, and
21 FAR clause 15.46-2.
22

20.

On information and belief, the FAR clauses that were incorporated as

23 material terms of various of AeroVironment’s contracts included, in relevant part, the
24 following:
25

31.201-2 Allowability: A cost is allowable only when the cost complies

26

with all of the following requirements:
(1) Reasonableness.
7

27
28
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1

(2) Allocability.

2

(3) Standards promulgated by the CAS Board, if applicable, otherwise,

3

generally accepted accounting principles and practices appropriate to

4

the circumstances.

5

(4) Terms of the contract.

6

(5) Any limitations set forth in this subpart.

7
8

31-201-4 Allocability: A cost is allocable if it is assignable or chargeable to

9

one or more cost objectives on the basis of relative benefits received or other

10

equitable relationship. Subject to the foregoing, a cost is allocable to a

11

Government contract if it--

12

(a) Is incurred specifically for the contract;

13

(b) Benefits both the contract and other work, and can be distributed

14
15
16

to them in reasonable proportion to the benefits received; or
(c) Is necessary to the overall operation of the business, although a
direct relationship to any particular cost objective cannot be shown.

17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

31.202 Direct Costs: No final cost objective shall have allocated to it as a
direct cost any cost, if other costs incurred for the same purpose in like
circumstances have been included in any indirect cost pool to be allocated to
that or any other final cost objective. Direct costs of the contract shall be
charged directly to the contract. All costs specifically identified with other
final cost objectives of the contractor are direct costs of those cost objectives
and are not to be charged to the contract directly or indirectly.

26
27
28
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1
2

31.203 Indirect Costs:

3

(b) After direct costs have been determined and charged directly to the

4

contract or other work, indirect costs are those remaining to be allocated to

5

intermediate or two or more final cost objectives. No final cost objective

6

shall have allocated to it as an indirect cost any cost, if other costs incurred

7

for the same purpose, in like circumstances, have been included as a direct

8

cost of that or any other final cost objective.

9

(c) The contractor shall accumulate indirect costs by logical cost groupings

10

with due consideration of the reasons for incurring such costs. The

11

contractor shall determine each grouping so as to permit use of an allocation

12

base that is common to all cost objectives to which the grouping is to be

13

allocated. The base selected shall allocate the grouping on the basis of the

14

benefits accruing to intermediate and final cost objectives. When

15

substantially the same results can be achieved through less precise methods,

16

the number and composition of cost groupings should be governed by

17

practical considerations and should not unduly complicate the allocation.

18

(d) Once an appropriate base for allocating indirect costs has been accepted,

19

the contractor shall not fragment the base by removing individual elements.

20

All items properly includable in an indirect cost base shall bear a pro rata

21

share of indirect costs irrespective of their acceptance as Government

22

contract costs. For example, when a cost input base is used for the allocation

23

of G & A costs, the contractor shall include in the base all items that would

24

properly be part of the cost input base, whether allowable or unallowable,

25

and these items shall bear their pro rata share of G & A costs.

26
27
28
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1

15.406-2 Certificate of Current Cost or Pricing Data:

2

(a) When cost or pricing data are required, the contracting officer must

3

require the contractor to execute a Certificate of Current Cost or Pricing

4

Data, using the format in this paragraph, and must include the executed

5

certificate in the contract file.

6
7

Certificate of Current Cost or Pricing Data

8
9

This is to certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, the cost or

10

pricing data (as defined in section 2.101 of the Federal Acquisition

11

Regulation (FAR) and required under FAR subsection 15.403-4) submitted,

12

either actually or by specific identification in writing, to the Contracting

13

Officer or to the Contracting Officer's representative in support of

14

________* are accurate, complete, and current as of ________**. This

15

certification includes the cost or pricing data supporting any advance

16

agreements and forward pricing rate agreements between the offeror and the

17

Government that are part of the proposal.

18
19

* Identify the proposal, request for price adjustment, or other submission

20

involved, giving the appropriate identifying number (e.g., RFP No.).

21
22

** Insert the day, month, and year when price negotiations were concluded

23

and price agreement was reached or, if applicable, an earlier date agreed

24

upon between the parties that is as close as practicable to the date of

25

agreement on price.

26
27
28
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1

21.

AeroVironment violated the terms of its contracts with the United States by

2 violating the incorporated provisions of the FAR with respect to the allocation,
3 accumulation and charging of indirect costs and direct costs, inflating the indirect cost
4 rates incorporated into its fixed fee contracts, and falsely certifying in its fixed fee
5 contracts that the indirect cost rates it represented as allocable to its U.S. Government
6 contracts were accurate and complete. AeroVironment overcharged the United States
7 millions of dollars as a result of its inflated indirect cost rates.
8

22.

AeroVironment’s billings that included charges for indirect costs and direct

9 costs were inflated in at least two ways:
10

A) Indirect Cost Mischarging. The indirect cost rates AeroVironment

11

represented to the United States for its cost type contracts were excessive,

12

which inflated AeroVironment’s indirect cost billings that were submitted to

13

the United States in 2009 through 2014, and continuing. AeroVironment

14

overcharged the United States millions of dollars through inflating its indirect

15

costs charges and rates by improperly removing approximately $40 million to

16

$50 million of commercial direct Research and Development costs from the

17

allocation base (causing the US Government contracts to be a larger

18

percentage of the allocation base), and then improperly putting those same

19

commercial direct Research and Development costs into its indirect cost pool

20

(resulting in an inflated indirect cost pool), and

21

B) Direct Cost Mischarging. AeroVironment also overcharged the United

22

States at least $100,000 by directly mischarging assembly costs for at least one

23

of its commercial products to “Engineering overhead” on U.S. Government

24

contracts.

25

23.

On information and belief, it is alleged AeroVironment’s false claims for

26 payment were submitted to the United States approximately monthly from 2009 through
27
28
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1 2014, and continuing, on Department of Defense standard billing forms which falsely
2 certified that the billing vouchers was correct and proper for payment. All of the falsely
3 certified vouchers were signed by an authorized certifying officer for AeroVironment.
4 The claims were submitted to, and paid by, the United States, which would not have paid
5 the claims if it had known of their falsity. These claims for payment caused millions of
6 dollars of damage to the United States.
7

VII.

8

INDIRECT COSTS MISCHARGED BY DEFENDANT

9

24.

Although the business of AeroVironment was almost exclusively the

10 development and production of unmanned aircraft systems (“UAS”), in 2009
11 AeroVironment Board Chair and Chief Executive Officer Tim Conver decided to get the
12 company into the commercial market for electric vehicle chargers. AeroVironment saw
13 the emerging commercial electric vehicle market as a growth opportunity and wanted to
14 be one of the first to develop and sell electric vehicle chargers to the consumer market.
15 During the next few years, AeroVironment spent approximately $40 million to $50
16 million for research and development of these commercial charging solutions for the
17 consumer market.
18

25.

AeroVironment targeted as its commercial customers Nissan, Mitsubishi,

19 Fiat, Kia and Ford, among other consumer electric car manufacturers, and also the
20 company NRG Energy, Inc., which was vying to establish a niche in the consumer
21 electric car recharging market. AeroVironment already had a commercial division named
22 Efficient Energy Systems (“EES”), which focused on small battery management issues
23 for commercial items such as forklifts and electric carts. When AeroVironment decided
24 to invest in the consumer electric car recharger market, it established a new business
25 within the EES division, called EV Solutions, to develop and sell the electric vehicle
26 chargers to the consumer market. EV Solutions had its own Vice President, General
27
28
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1 Manager, and engineering, manufacturing and sales and marketing departments.
2 AeroVironment’s intent was to “spin off” EES, including its EV Solutions consumer
3 charger business, as a new company after the initial research and development for the
4 consumer chargers was completed and enough sales had been achieved. AeroVironment
5 recruited management personnel for EES with a promise that they would be issued stock
6 in the “spin off” company, developed financial pro formas for the anticipated commercial
7 business, and even discussed a proposed stock symbol for the spin-off company:
8 “EVEV”.
9

26.

To help fund this new commercial charger business, AeroVironment devised

10 a scheme to cause the United States to pay for much of the commercial Research and
11 Development costs by charging these costs to its indirect cost pool, of which more than
12 90% was allocated to U.S. Government contracts. The bulk of the $40 million to $50
13 million in Research and Development costs for EES were incurred in 2009, 2010 and
14 2011, but continued into 2012 and beyond, when competition by other companies drove
15 down the price of consumer car chargers and AeroVironment scaled back its financial
16 projections for the commercial market. However, AeroVironment’s mischarging scheme
17 for inflated indirect costs continued to inflate its indirect cost rates and charges to its
18 government contracts in subsequent years.
19

27.

By intentionally ensuring that its commercial Research and Development

20 costs were improperly excluded from its indirect cost allocation base and improperly
21 included in its indirect cost pool, AeroVironment knowingly submitted false claims to the
22 United States that included inflated indirect costs and rates and knowingly violated FAR
23 31.201, 31.202, 31.203 regarding allocability, direct costs and indirect costs, and
24 knowingly submitted false cost and pricing data on its fixed price contracts subject to the
25 Truth In Negotiations Act. These false claims caused millions of dollars in damages to
26 the United States.
27
28
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1

VIII.

2

DIRECT COSTS MISCHARGED BY DEFENDANT

3

28.

During a relatively slow period in approximately 2011, AeroVironment

4 moved some of its assembly work on its EV50 commercial charger product to its U.S.
5 Government contract manufacturing facility in Simi Valley, California, where its
6 manufacturing personnel were told to charge their work to “Engineering overhead” for
7 U.S. Government contracts. Following internal complaints about this mischarging, it is
8 believed this direct cost cross charging stopped. On information and belief, the direct
9 cross charging billed to, and paid by, the U.S. Government totaled approximately
10 $100,000 before the cross charging stopped.
11

IX.

12

COUNT ONE

13

(For Violation of 31 U.S.C. § 3729 et seq.)

14

29.

Qui tam plaintiff hereby realleges and incorporates herein by reference

15 paragraphs 1 through 28, inclusive, hereinabove, as though fully set forth at length.
16

30.

Defendant AeroVironment knowingly caused to be submitted false claims

17 for payment as set forth above, in violation of 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(A). Additionally,
18 AeroVironment knowingly caused to be used false records or statements to get false or
19 fraudulent claims paid by the United States, in violation of 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(B).
20 Further, AeroVironment knowingly avoided the obligation to repay these sums to the
21 United States, in violation of 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(G).
22

31.

As a result of such violations of the False Claims Act, Defendant

23 AeroVironment caused wrongful payments to be made from the United States Treasury.
24 All of this has resulted in damage to the United States.
25
26
27
28
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1
2

X. PRAYER FOR RELIEF

3

WHEREFORE, qui tam plaintiff prays for relief as follows:

4

1.

5
6

For three times the dollar amount shown to have been wrongfully charged to
and paid by the United States;

2.

For maximum civil penalties for all false records, statements, certifications

7

and claims submitted to the United States, subject to being consistent with

8

the Excessive Fines and Penalties Clause of the Eighth Amendment to

9

United States Constitution;

10

3.

11
12

United States;
4.

13
14

For the maximum statutory qui tam share of the recovery obtained for the

For all other damages allowed under law, including litigation expenses and
reasonable attorneys’ fees; and

5.

For such other and further relief as the court deems just and proper.

15
16
17
18
19

JURY DEMAND
Plaintiff requests a trial by jury.

20
Respectfully submitted,
Warren - Benson Law Group

21
22
23
24
25

Dated: November 28, 2014

/s/ Donald R. Warren___________
Donald R. Warren, Attorney for
Qui Tam Plaintiff Joel Hirsch

26
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